**FILED**

SID J. WHITE

MAR 17 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By                       
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GEORGE WALLACE BROWN, :  
Appellant, :  
vs. :  
STATE OF FLORIDA, :  
Appellee. :  
\_\_\_\_\_ :

Case No. 78,007

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT  
IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY  
STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RONALD E. SMITH  
ATTORNEY AT LAW  
SUITE 11  
4404 SOUTH FLORIDA AVENUE  
LAKELAND, FLORIDA 33813  
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0349232  
(813) 647-1077

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

### STATEMENT OF CASE

On July 12, 1990, a Polk County grand jury indicted Appellant, GEORGE WALLACE BROWN, for first-degree murder of Horace D. Brown between April 22 and May 2, 1990. (R. 1425-1428) Public defender filed a standard pre-printed motion for continuance of trial for one trial cycle<sup>1</sup> and someone marked a pre-printed box for defendant's waiver. (R. 1443) Motion was granted on September 27, 1990. (R. 1436-1440) On October 19, 1990 public defender filed a motion to withdraw as counsel due to conflict of interest. (R. 1463-1464) A private attorney was appointed on October 26, 1990. (R. 1467)

On January 7, 1991 defense attorney, notice court with copies to State Attorney and Trial Coordinator stating in part that "it would be unconscionable to require defendant to remain in jail for more than two additional months because of [prosecutor's] scheduling conflicts," and requested trial be set February 11, 1991, to avoid bringing defendant to trial for murder after "almost one year in jail before trial" (R. 1998, see also 2004) but

"management of the docket must control....[t]he case will be scheduled to begin on February 11, 1991 for a ten-day trial. I would suggest that sufficient time exists for the State to assign a qualified prosecutor to the case and to have that person prepared to go to trial by that date."

(Court's response at R. 1999)

March 1, 1991, court denied motion to compel state to provide evidence regarding ongoing investigations of "serial killings," known as "Gainesville murders." (R. 1864-1942, 1943-1963) Defense counsel filed a second such motion on March 12, 1991 (R. 1965-1968), but the court denied that motion during jury selection (R. 523-528), by granting state's motion in limine opposing that discovery. (R. 2018-2019, 2023)

March 15, 1991, appellant moved the court to discharge defendant on outstanding charges due to denial of speedy trial (R. 1973-1996). Appellant noticed hearing for April 5, 1991 on motion and a second motion for discharge

---

<sup>1</sup>"Trial cycle" is an undefined period of time in Tenth Judicial Circuit, which may last between five and seven weeks and discussed under the speedy trial issue to this brief.

on April 1, 1991. (R. 2000-2002) On April 5, 1991, the judge authorized another defense attorney to represent a key third party witness to aid in discovery of prime "serial killer" suspect, Danny Harold Rolling, regarding similar murder circumstances of this case. (R. 2008-2014, 2017)

April 5, 1991 the judge denied motion for discharge. (R. 2015, 2017) and April 16, 1991 state moved court to limit defense presentation of evidence and argument that: (1) defendant attempted discovery of relationships of this case to murders in Gainesville, Florida, in New Orleans, Louisiana, and Dothan, Alabama; (2) any evidence pointing to a particular person other than defendant as responsible for this murder; (3) innuendo that Gainesville murderers committed the murder. (R. 2018-2019)

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

##### A. Guilt Phase

On May 1, 1990 at 6:45 p.m. Deputy Richard Lee Hess of the Arapahoe County, Colorado, Sheriff's Department, performed a book-in search of George Brown after Englewood Colorado City Police Department arrested him under a Florida warrant. (R. 626) Deputy Hess searched George Brown and found Horace D. Brown's credit cards with George. (R. 630, 646 L. 17)

After searching and finding credit cards with George's property and without ever advising him of Miranda rights, Hess "asked him about them." (R. 631, L. 11) Brown said "they were his father's and that his father knew all about them." (R. 631) Hess said he "was going to have to go ahead and take the credit cards." Brown said "I don't want to hurt that old man, he knows I've got them and it's OK." (R. 633) Hess asked Brown how to contact Horace and whether he lived in that area. (R. 634) George said Horace lived in Florida and could only be contacted at work. (R. 634) Hess told Brown he "would have to go ahead and take the credit cards." (R. 634) Brown asked Hess to enter the holding cell, so he could tell him something. (R. 634-635) Hess entered and Brown said "Horace D. Brown is dead. He was murdered eight days ago." (R. 635) Hess looked at Brown in surprise and Brown said "No, no, I didn't do



it, but I was the only one that was a witness to it." (R. 635) Hess asked Brown if Horace was his father and Brown said "no ... just a friend." (R. 635) Brown then requested a cigarette and an investigator. (R. 635) At 7:30 or 7:40 p.m. that evening Investigator Roland Lackey of the Arapahoe County Sheriff's Office questioned Brown in a lunchroom. (R. 636, 646) Brown said "I'm kind of involved. I found the body" (R. 647), whereupon Lackey stopped the interview and gave Brown Miranda warnings. (R. 648) Brown signed a waiver form and told Lackey this unrecorded account: (R. 649)

George went to Sam's bar and met a "casual friend" or "casual acquaintance," Horace Brown.<sup>2</sup> (R. 1413, 1415, 650) After drinking together, George asked Horace to take him to his Polk City girlfriend. (R. 654, 972, 1413, 1415) Horace drove his gray Honda to a Seven-Eleven near Highway 98 and 92 where they purchased more beer and Horace placed a ten minute telephone call.<sup>3</sup> (R. 654, 972-973, 1413) On their way to Polk City, Horace said he had to meet someone and drove to a dirt road near Interstate 4 and Highway 33. (R. 655, 1414, 973) Horace left his car and sat in a large white with blue or green Chrysler with a man named "Danny" at approximately 10:30 p.m. (R. 655, 1414, 1416, 974-975) After approximately 30 minutes George yelled to Horace he needed to go to Polk City and Horace came to George and told George to leave and return in an hour. (R. 656, 1414, 975) On the way to the girlfriend's

---

<sup>2</sup>Detective Robert Ore's probable cause statement and trial testimony refers to George's reference to "casual friends" during Lackey and Ore interviews (R. 972, 1413, 1415) However, Lackey testified George said "casual acquaintance" (R. 650) and prosecutor "remembered" they were just "casual acquaintances" during closing arguments for penalty phase (R. 1169), so as to add to state's theory that George was just a casual hitchhiker whom Horace picked up with a car, which he never loaned to a friend. (R. 1159-1160, 1168-1169) Etherington heard George say he hitchhiked to Haines City before bringing "Bobby"'s car (Horace's Honda) to her house on the night of the murder. (R. 783-785)

<sup>3</sup>Prosecutor alone suggested George instead of Horace drove to the scene. (R. 1169) There is no apparent basis for misquoting Ore's and Lackey's testimony.

house,<sup>4</sup> George bought more beer at a convenience store in Polk City.<sup>5</sup> (R. 654-655, 1416, 973-974) When George returned he could not find the other car, but found Horace Brown's wallet, a watch, papers and his body near a canal further down the dirt road. (R. 657, 1414, 975-978) He found blood on Horace, who was feet first in bushes lying on his stomach.<sup>6</sup> (R. 657, 1414, 1416, 977-978) George tried to find a pulse, got scared and drove to Haines City, where he called Judy Etherington. (R. 657-658, 1416, 1418, 977-978)

Judy Etherington said George lived with her for about three weeks prior to April 22, 1990 in her Lakeland home. (R. 774-775, 801) He left their home on foot<sup>7</sup> approximately 6:00 p.m. on April 22, 1990.<sup>8</sup> (R. 780) George called Judy

---

<sup>4</sup>Etherington verified George had an "ex-girlfriend" in Polk City, but she was presumably the only one in Lakeland. (R. 798) State's theory was that George had only one girlfriend in Lakeland and Polk City destination was a ruse to get Horace into a secluded area carry out a premeditated murder. (R. 1169, 1178)

<sup>5</sup>Alcohol consumption was prevalent that night: George and Horace had a few beers together (R. 650, 971); they bought at least a six-pack of beer at a convenience store enroute to Polk City (R. 654-655, 972-973); George bought a beer entering Polk City (R. 975); George bought a six-pack of Hamms beer on sale at a convenience store after taking the Honda to Judy's house. (R. 787-788) Testimony regarding George's alcoholism and alcohol consumption prior to the murder (R. 1313-1314, 1318-1319, 1348, 1385-1386) were rejected in the findings of fact, "[t]here is not one shred of evidence to indicate Defendant was under influence of alcohol such that his faculties were impaired." (R. 2117)

<sup>6</sup>Detective Ore reported in his arrest warrant affidavit George said Horace was sitting up when George lit his lighter and found Horace's body. (R. 1416, paragraph 6) Neither Lackey nor Ore repeated this at trial, because of Ore's possible typographical error or name switch. Such error suggests continued inaccuracy of Ore's recollection of George Brown's statements.

<sup>7</sup>Judy said they did not have a car and instead used public transportation during a month together. (R. 776) Judy did not know George went to Polk City during this time. (R. 781)

<sup>8</sup>Judy testified they were worried about financial troubles. (R. 777-778) She told Ore they were depressed about not having a money and he, saying he needed to think and he might know where he could get a job. (R. 1418) Judy did not say this at trial.

around 9:45 or 10:00 p.m. from Haines City. (R. 781, 1418, 1416) He said he hitchhiked and borrowed a car from a friend "Bobby" so as to return home.<sup>9</sup> (R. 783-784) Judy said George arrived home at 11:00 p.m. driving what later identified as Horace Brown's Honda. (R. 784, 1416, 1419) George told Judy he had to return to Haines City to leave around 4:00 or 5:00 o'clock that morning for a one or two week trucking job. (R. 785) George showed her blood on his shirt sleeve and shirt tail and explained he had been in a bar fight that night in Haines City. (R. 786-787, 1416, 1419) George and Judy drove the Honda to a nearby convenience store and George bought a six-pack of beer.<sup>10</sup> (R. 787-788) He left again at 1:00 or 1:30 a.m. that night. (R. 788) Monday, April 23, 1990 Judy could not find her small half-inch blade pocket knife on her night table. (R. 795-797) George called Judy from Cullman, Alabama, Tuesday, April 24 and from Nashville, Tennessee, Wednesday, April 25, 1990.<sup>11</sup> (R. 791-793, 806-807, 809)

Lackey and Polk County Detective Robert Ore heard George say on Monday, April 23, 1990, he found a checkbook and credit cards in the Honda.<sup>12</sup> He

---

<sup>9</sup>Bobby Dobbing from Haines City could not identify George in the courtroom (R. 832) after prosecutor attempted a "lineup with only one person in it." (R. 810)

<sup>10</sup>Since Judy was allergic to beer (R. 783) George drank alone. (R. 787-788) Judy never explained whether George drank any of the Hamms in her presence.

<sup>11</sup>George previously told Judy he was driving a truck for one to two weeks through New York and New Jersey, but explained to her during Tuesday and Wednesday collect calls he was giving "Bobby" his truck and George was pursuing his music career in Nashville. (R. 785, 793, 806) Neither state nor defense could find Bobby Ellison with whom George stayed in Nashville. (R. 808, 1418)

<sup>12</sup>During initial interviews on May 8, 1990 Ore asked Brown for location of Horace Brown's car, driver's license and other papers; George told Ore correct locations already verified by execution of search warrant on May 4, 1990. (R. 1042, 1417) Prosecutor during closing argument suggested George lied about the location of the car and papers so as to misdirect police investigations. (R. 1172) The record does not reflect this.

cashed one of Horace's checks for \$650.00 to buy a 1980 or 1981 Dodge Colt, after which he drove to Nashville, Tennessee to pursue a music career.<sup>13</sup> (R. 678-659, 982, 1416, 1417) Unable to get a job he stayed with friends in Nashville, but left for Denver, Colorado after two days.<sup>14</sup> (R. 659, 982, 1417) Brown allegedly told Lackey that when he "went to 4301 South Santa Fe Drive, which was the Mark Claim Motel... he was approached by Englewood officers and arrested on an outstanding Osceola County warrant for auto theft," at which time Lackey ended the interview.<sup>15</sup> (R. 659, 1414)

Lackey called Polk County Sherrif's Sergeant Davis Edward Kite 11:30 p.m., they arrested Brown on an outstanding warrant for grand theft auto<sup>16</sup>, and requested Kite check the crime site. (R. 711-712, 1414) Kite met Deputy Kenneth Powers at the dirt road near I-4 and State Road 33 intersection, smelled something dead and advanced on foot with flashlights. (R. 719, 1414)

Investigator Lackey briefed facts received from Brown to Polk County Sheriff's Detective Robert C. Ore by telephone shortly after midnight on May

---

<sup>13</sup>Brown's accomplishments in country music were to be a highlight of the defense penalty phase. (R. 1295-1296) However, allusion to George's talents were "short changed" by timidity and probable inconsistency in presenting such non-statutory mitigation after counsel argued innocence during the penalty phase.

Ore's investigation revealed owner of the Tennessee tag, with which Brown drove a '80 - '81 Dodge Colt to Nashville and obtained tag registration within "two days" (R. 1417) identified a man resembling George Brown, who was missing two fingers, but known for over a year only as "K.C. Cannon." (R. 1418) Judy Etherington verified that George used "K.C. Cannon" and "Carl" as stage names when writing and recording his songs. (R. 776)

<sup>14</sup>Investigator Lackey testified George became somewhat leery that he was going to be caught because everybody "on the run" gets caught in Nashville. (R. 659) However, George's statement to Ore revealed he went to Nashville for a career in music. (R. 1417)

<sup>15</sup>George's recital of an exact address where he was arrested by Englewood Police Department for an outstanding warrant on grand theft auto charges from Osceola County was repeated by Hess and Lackey during trial and prosecutor requested arrest warrant verification. Counsel objected to these statements. (R. 659-660)

<sup>16</sup>Again prosecutor unnecessarily suggests outlaw-ism.

2, 1991 while Ore was traveling to the crime scene. (R. 958-959) Ore arrived at the scene and noticed the body was lying in a ditch.<sup>17</sup> (R. 1415, 960-967) Ore noted position of Horace's body feet first into the ditch and lying on its stomach was just as George Brown had described it to Lackey on May 1, 1991 and to Ore on May 8, 1991. (R. 966-967, 1415) But, Ore could not view the body without entering the ditch with a special light. (R. 960, 965, 1415)

The court denied defense objection photographs and a videotape taken at crime scene by Crime Scene Technician Nancy Shipman, because parts were not in focus and parts were editorially focused on the dead body, thereby excluding a fair and accurate representation. (R. 861-864, 863-864)

Medical examiner, Dr. Alexander Melamud, testified the May 2, 1990, autopsy in Lakeland, Florida, revealed Horace's severely decomposed. (R. 593) Parties stipulated to identity of Horace's before before trial. (R. 1787-1788) During autopsy large body parts were skeletonized where maggots, animals and flies had eaten part of the face; the middle portion of the chest, the middle portion of the neck and at least three holes as large as 10 inches in diameter in the torso were noted. (R. 602-603) Clothing including "a light green short sleeved shirt with linear defects on it." (R. 599) The "linear defects" corresponded to the three holes in the front aspect of the body.<sup>18</sup> (R. 599-

---

<sup>17</sup>The state emphasised "covered with underbrush and large bushes" element of the area so as to prove a secluded environment where George looked for Horace - alive or dead. Heightened dramatic tension obtained by state's escalation from George's initial description of a "canal" where Horace's body was found - to a depredating "ditch", quoted by later-day officers. The "canal" would contain water and imply exculpating explanations for their presence, i.e. fishing, nature loving or homosexual love-making. "Ditch" implies a non-recreational environment where a robber or killer would plunder and lay waste. Such a change in description can only serve to distract jurors from viewing George as a nearest culpable observer of Horace's death.

<sup>18</sup>During the guilt phase, Dr. Melamud never referred to the "linear defects" as cuts, which would be clear evidence of a knife. One of them was described as a "tear which was along the seam beginning from the right arm pit down and extending to the back." (R. 600) During testimony from the medical examiner they were generally referred to as "linear defects" or "holes in the

601, 604-606, 615, 900-902) Decomposition and the hydration changes while left in a wooded area, suggested death eight or nine days prior.<sup>19</sup> (R. 622)

Melamud's examination revealed Horace suffered three wounds to the abdomen and right chest causing hemorrhage of the liver. (R. 604) Melamud requested a radiologist perform X-ray examination and testified the radiologist found "multiple small densities" in the body, ruling out metal bullet like pieces and suggesting stab holes to the torso.<sup>20</sup> (R. 603, 617-619) He could not determine whether Horace's body had been disturbed or even turned over after a significant time during decomposition. (R. 615-616) He could not determine whether Horace was conscious when he was stabbed, because he did not know when stabbings or hemorrhage occurred. (R. 608-609, 1301) He could not tell whether stab holes were more or less attributable to animal bites, maggot burrowing and bug activity, because of marked decomposition.<sup>21</sup> (R. 605, 606,

---

shirt." (R. 605) The State's murder theory centers on a stabbing occurring because of Dr. Melamud conclusion; but Dr. Melamud also conceded that the shirt could have prevented decomposition as compared to exposed areas [including the linear defects]. (R. 615, 617)

<sup>19</sup>This corroborates George Brown's statement originally made to Deputy Hess. (R. 635)

<sup>20</sup>Dr. Melamud first said that he performed X-rays looking for foreign objects. (R. 603) Upon cross-examination, he denied expertise of a radiologist and admitted he only quoted a licensed radiologist's test results. (R. 617-619)

<sup>21</sup>Condition of the autopsied body significantly distorted medical examiner's estimation of original height and weight and body position during decomposition. Melamud estimated height at 66 inches and weight at 170 pounds (R. 603), but Mrs. Brown said Horace was approximately 5 feet 9 inches (69 inches) tall and weighed about 155 pounds. (R. 842) He was also inconclusive as to whether the body had been turned over or whether the body remained face down during decomposition. (R. 615-617) He even conjectured the face might not have touched the ground (R. 617), contrary to the officers' description. (R. 1414, 657, see Kite & Ore testimony) Non-appearing radiologist's "multiple small densities in the soft tissue" would be testimony (R. 618) and Melamud's ignorance of actual physical properties or location of these "small densities" was defended by "It doesn't have--also I can tell you it doesn't have any diagnostic significance at all."

608-609) He could not tell to what extent holes in the body were attributable to maggot and fly burrowing into Horace's body and how much was attributable to decomposition. (R. 615, 617) Melamud performed body fluid tests and discovered unusually high level of alcohol, .18 grams over decaliter, suggesting Horace consumed an some alcohol prior to death.<sup>22</sup> (R. 620-621)

Detective Joe R. Benavides of Polk County Sheriff's Office testified that on May 3, 1990 he was directed by Sergeant Putnel of the Sheriff's Office to travel to the front parking lot of an Eckerd's Drugstore on Orange Blossom Trail in Orlando, Florida. (R. 866-867) He found the gray Honda where George Brown told Lackey it would be. (R. 868, 1417)

On May 8, 1990 in Arapahoe County, Colorado, without Miranda warnings and again without taping the statements, George Brown told Detective Ore essentially the same facts that he had told Investigator Lackey on May 1, 1990.<sup>23</sup> (R. 969-970; see summary below in order of trial testimony)

Horace Brown's wife, Jeanene Brown, testified they were married almost 37 years and Mr. Brown was 62 years old at the time of his death. (R. 835, 842) Her husband had retired but started working part-time at Scotty's in Bartow, Florida. (R. 836) Because Horace frequently drove to the beach and remained there all day, Mrs. Brown thought her husband went to the beach on April 22, 1990. (R. 837) She last saw her husband alive about 8:30 a.m. when she returned home from her night shift as a living skill's instructor for Peace River Mental Health Center in Bartow on April 22, 1990. (R. 834, 836-837)

---

(R. 618)

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