FILED SID J. WHITE

JUN 21 1993

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

By—Chief Deputy Clerk

GEORGE WALLACE BROWN,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. 78,007

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

## BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY
Assistant Attorney General
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Westwood Center
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813) 873-4739

OF COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

What about Bonita Brennan? She said that there was a Danny who was a regular at the Siesta, the same place that Horace Brown was a regular. And she said that Ore didn't ask her about Danny, about any Danny. Recall with me, if you can, I don't recall it very accurately myself, I don't recall exactly what Mr. Ore said. But it's my recollection that he indicated that he had asked those people about Danny. Who's telling the truth?

Well I don't know, the girl -- excuse me for using that term, but the lady who was the bartender, I tried to ask her one of those questions and she just blurted out, that detective is a liar. I don't know She indicated in any event that he didn't' ask her about Danny. I don't know why.

Danny. Who was Danny? I mentioned this and I'll say it in passing. There was a Danny, a Danny Lynnville that Bonita Brennan mentioned

that said frequented the Siesta and was there when -- I don't know if he was there when Horace was there, but at least he attended the same place. I don't know what the testimony was as to whether they were ever there at the same time. But at least he was a regular at the same place that Horace was a regular.

It is not clear to appellee whether appellate counsel for Mr. Brown is attempting to make the argument that Gainesville suspect Danny Rolling should be regarded as the likely perpetrator of the Horace Brown homicide or whether, as argued below to the jury, whether pool player Danny Lynnville should be implicated.

One final observation on the mythical "Danny" character. Despite George Brown's insistence that victim Horace Brown was the one desirous of meeting his friend Danny in the isolated area where Horace's body was found, the victim's wife Jeanene Brown who had been married to Horace for thirty-seven years testified that to her knowledge Horace did not have any friend named Danny, she knew most of Horace's friends and he had never mentioned any friend named Danny to her (R 844).

Detective Ore had testified that he didn't know where to find a "Danny" but that he had asked at Sam's Bar, the Siesta, Patch's Lounge (R 1031 - 32). Waitress Bonita Brennan at the Siesta Lounge knew a pool player named Danny Lynville (R 948).

### ISSUE V

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO SUSTAIN DEFENSE COUNSEL'S OBJECTION AND CURE THE ERROR WHEN STATE WITNESSES HESS, LACKEY, KITE AND ORE EACH ALLEGEDLY SAID BROWN WAS ARRESTED FOR AN UNRELATED OUTSTANDING WARRANT.

Appellant next complains of the following testimony given by witnesses Hess, Lackey, Kite and Ore and the prosecutor's closing argument at R 1164 - 65:

- Q. How was it that you came into contact with Mr. Brown in your job at the receiving facility?
- A. He was arrested by a city department, Englewood Police Department and brought to the detention facility on a warrant for ---
- Q. That's OK. What was your job with regard to him once he got there?
- A. As soon as he came in, I checked for the appropriate paperwork, which was a warrant, and then I received him into our facility.
- Q. OK. About what time of day was it in Colorado when you first saw Mr. Brown?
- A. Approximately 6:45 p.m.
- Q. Now what was your procedure, what did you do with him once you got him there? You made sure you had a warrant to hold him there, then what did you do?

(R 625 - 626)

- Q. Did he tell you how he found the body; whether he was still in the car when he found the body or anything of that nature?
- A. He didn't specify to me.

- Q. He just said he drove down the canal and found the body?
- A. Found the body and the body was approximately 25 feet off the side of the road feet first in the weeds lying on its stomach. He said that at the point he saw blood on the body and that he approached the body to attempt to find a pulse and put his ear next to the torso. At that time he got scared and said he left in Horace Brown's car and said he did not notify authorities because he had warrants for his arrest and he was, quote, afraid they were going to hit me with a murder rap, unquote.

He then stated that he was going to get rid of the car. And on April 23rd, which would be a Monday morning, he took one of Horace Brown's checks --

- Q. Let me stop you again. He's now telling you that on April 23rd in the morning, that's a particular date he told you?
- A. That's correct.
- Q. In the conversation, had you learned then when this supposed activity with Danny and everything and finding the body took place?
- A. That is correct.
- O. When?

- A. It was a week ago Sunday from the day I interviewed him, which would be April 22nd.
- Q. OK. So at some point in this conversation he had told you all this stuff happened a week ago Sunday.
- A. That's correct.
- Q. All right. And then he says then on April 23rd, which is going to be the next Monday morning --
- A. Right, that he forged one of Horace Brown's checks in the amount of \$650.00,

cashed that check at the First Union Bank of Orlando, bought a, according to him, '80 or '81 Dodge Colt and decided to drive to Nashville, Tennessee. He said that once he got to Nashville he became somewhat leery that he was going to be caught because he told me that everybody that's on the run gets caught in Nashville. And he also told me he went to visit a friend there, however he did provide with not me that friend's identification.

He said then he decided to drive to Denver and went to 4301 South Santa Fe Drive, which was the Mark Claim Motel. At that point he approached advised me that he was Englewood officers and arrested on an outstanding Osceola County warrant for auto At that time the interview was theft. completed.

MR. DOYEL: Your Honor, may we approach the bench?

THE COURT: Yes.

(The following occurred at the bench)

MR. DOYEL: I think that John has been trying to be careful not to ask the people about warrants and what they were for, and that's what this guy has just said. That's introduced another crime of auto theft which is not involved in this case, he said it was Osceola County. I don't know how to cure the problem, but that's another act that is not — another crime that is in no way involved in this case, the fact that was the reason they stopped him.

THE COURT: Well apparently the defendant allowed that he was on the run from a warrant. It would seem to me the defense would rather the jury know it's for auto theft then for another homicide or something like that.

MR. DOYEL: I believe actually it was for failure to appear for an auto theft, but ---

MR. AGUERO: Judge, they both are not talking about proof of that crime. We're talking about some kind of statement by the defendant where he just says that. I'm not even offering it to prove it's true.

THE COURT: I can't clean up the defendant's statement.

MR. AGUERO: Yeah. I mean that was all part and parcel of the statement and the defense has been aware we were going to introduce that.

THE COURT: I not the objection but it's overruled.

(R 657 - 660)

\* \* \*

- Q. Did you have occasion on May the 1st of 190 to become involved in an investigation into the death of Horace Brown?
- A. Yes, I did.
- Q. How did you first become involved in that situation, Sergeant Kite?
- A. I was at my office in Lakeland reviewing reports and I received a telephone call form a Detective Lackey from the Denver, Colorado area. And he advised me that they had arrested a subject by the name of George Wallace Brown and that -- for grand theft, auto, and that Mr. Brown had told them that he had knowledge of a homicide that had occurred approximately eight days prior. And he requested -- he described the area to me and requested that I send somebody out to check it.

- Q. All right. Now did you ever have any direct contact with this Mr. Brown on the phone or did you just speak to Detective Lackey?
- A. Just Detective Lackey.

(R 711 - 712)

\* \* \*

- Q. And what eventually did Detective Lackey tell you during that phone call?
- A. Detective Lackey advised that Mr. George Brown had been arrested by another police agency and in turn was taken to his agency's detention facility. During the booking process, several items were found on -- or in George's possession which belonged to Horace Brown.

In the course of finding out who this property actually belonged to, George advised that Horace Brown was dead. Eventually Detective Lackey interviewed Mr. Brown at his request and he gave the location of Horace Brown's body.

(R 958 - 959)

\* \* \*

But he takes off out of the state with all these different stories, even calls Judy Etherington and says if anybody is asking about me don't tell them where I'm at. What was he scared of; a grand theft warrant? Not reasonable.

(R 1165)

With respect to the Hess testimony (R 626), Kite testimony (R 711 - 712), Ore testimony (R 958 - 59) and the closing argument (R 1165), excerpted above there was neither defense

objection nor any request for relief and consequently any complain ab initio here is untimely, improper and remains unpreserved for review. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982); Occhicone v. State, 570 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 1990).

t t

To the extent that appellant may be complaining that this testimony and closing argument constitutes fundamental error, he is mistaken. See <u>Sanford v. Rubin</u>, 237 So. 2d 134 (Fla. 1970) (appellate court should exercise its discretion under the doctrine of fundamental error very guardedly).

The unobjected-to Hess testimony which did not articulate the basis for the outstanding warrant was proper and important to place into context his conversation with appellant at the jail regarding the possession of the Horace Brown credit card and why Hess had to maintain possession of it rather than return it to appellant who was in custody in jail and that appellant's surprising disclosure of knowledge about the Horace Grant homicide led to the involvement of Lackey and Ore since up to that time the fact of a murder was not known.

Similarly the unobjected to testimony of Kite and Ore (R 711 - 12, R 958 - 59) that they had learned of appellant's arrest and the booking procedure discovery from Detective Lackey explained that Brown's comments led to the discovery of the victim's body and to Ore's subsequent trip to Colorado. These brief statements were hardly of extraordinary damage to appellant especially in light of the testimony of appellant's girlfriend Judy Etherington that Brown returned to her residence and left

the next day in a vehicle subsequently identified as that belonging to the murder victim. Especially is this true when one considers that defense counsel's strategy with the jury was to portray George Brown as a thief not a murderer.

at the state of

With respect to the now-challenged prosecutor's comment in closing argument at R 1164 - 65, suffice it to say that defense counsel had previously argued to the jury:

"... I told you when I talked to you in opening statements just the other day that Mr. Brown took some things that belonged to Horace Brown, and among those was his car. It's very simple when it comes to grand thefts. If you believe that Mr. Brown stole Mister -- if you believe George Brown stole Horace Brown's car, then because it is a car, that makes it grand theft."... "I have not from the first day contested that Mr. George Brown is guilty of grand theft of the auto."

(R 1105 - 06)

Indeed defense counsel even suggested the jury could return a verdict of grand theft (R 1148).

Thus, there was no impropriety for the prosecutor to respond that it didn't make sense for appellant to flee the state and to tell Judy Etherington not to tell anyone where he was; being frightened of a grand theft warrant was not sufficient explanation of his conduct (R 1165).

In addition to the prosecutor's remark being a fair response to defense argument, it was also a fair comment on the evidence at trial. Investigator Lackey testified that appellant admitted that "he did not notify authorities because he had warrants for his arrest" (R 658). Additionally, the <u>defense</u> in its cross-examination of Detective Ore asked about the other charge a hearing on which Ore attended:

- "Q. What was that hearing for that you attended?
- A. It would be similar to a first appearance hearing which we have here.
- Q. And what charge was that on?

A. That was on the arrest where he was arrested for auto theft warrant and also the auto theft warrant which I had issued."

(R 1036)

Any claim that the prosecutor's comment in closing argument constituted fundamental error is frivolous.

With respect to appellant's challenge herein to the Lackey testimony mentioning an Osceola County warrant -- the only incident to which appellant objected below -- the prosecutor correctly observed that "the defense has been aware we were going to introduce that" (R 660). The defense was aware because the pretrial deposition of Detective Lackey revealed that appellant had admitted being frightened because of a warrant for auto theft (R 1572) and that he was arrested for an outstanding auto theft warrant out of Osceola County, Florida (R 1573).

Quite apart from that belated complaint, however, it is abundantly clear that this testimony was not an attempt by the state either to impermissibly demonstrate Brown's bad character or even to show the commission of a similar fact crime to help prove a material issue pursuant to Florida Statute 90.404 or the

Williams-rule. As the prosecutor acknowledged, he was not attempting to prove that Brown committed an auto theft in Osceola County or was arrested for it (R 660). In Malloy v. State, 382 So. 1190 (Fla. 1979), this Court declared that 2d circumstances of a prior incident "do not establish all the consequently, the question of the elements of a crime and admissibility of prior criminal acts is not present." 382 So. 2d at 1192; Lackey's testimony was admissible because the admission that "everybody that's on the run gets caught in Nashville" is probative of appellant's guilt in the robbery and murder of Horace Brown and Brown's historical account of being arrested by Englewood officers "on an outstanding Osceola County warrant for auto theft" adds nothing more prejudical than the previously admitted, and unobjected to, testimony of Brown's admission to Hess of the fear of being blamed for the murder when he was wanted on other charges.

The trial court correctly noted that since appellant had acknowledged being on the run from a warrant it would be less damaging to know it was for auto theft rather than a more serious crime such as homicide (R 660). Appellant erroneously urges that the state either intentionally or inadvertently, elicited testimony to establish nothing more than criminal propensity. This is not true. That appellant Brown was arrested in Colorado for an offense distinct and unrelated to the Horace Brown murder merely helps explain that Colorado authorities were not holding or interrogating appellant for this murder and in

fact were surprised to be apprised of a murder of which they were not aware. Appellant's admission of being wanted for another offense(s) constitutes a partial explanation of his admission (whether credibly or not) of why he did not notify authorities of a murder eight days earlier. 6

Appellee also notes that appellant sought no particular relief after objecting to witness Lackey's comment. He did not request a mistrial; should the trial court have ordered on undesired mistrial sua sponte with the attendant double jeopardy consequences when there was not an absolute necessity therefore? Salvatore v. State, 366 So. 2d 745 (Fla. 1978). Defense counsel did not ask for a curative instruction and did not disagree with the judge's comment that he couldn't clean up the defendant's comment. And the truth is it was no unduly prejudicial or the defense would not have exacerbated the matter by inquiring of witness Ore the details of the other warrant (R 1036).

Appellee maintains that appellant's admission to Lackey of being afraid of being blamed for the homicide when he was wanted on other charges was not improperly admitted, that the testimony mentioning Osceola County as the source of the warrant added

Appellant cites <u>Geralds v. State</u>, 601 So. 2d 1157 (Fla. 1992), a case which is clearly distinguishable from the case sub judice. There, the state improperly impeached a defense witness during the penalty phase by bringing out multiple convictions after having agreed not to offer penalty phase evidence. No such impropriety occurred here and appellant's admissions help explain his conduct.

nothing unduly prejudicial and no error is presented. Even if error it was certainly harmless in context.

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